In the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virgin

Docket No 21-0009

JAY M. POTTER,

Plaintiff Below, Petitioner

DO NOT REMOVE

Appeal from Affinal order of the Circuit Court of Kanawha County (19-C-686)

Vs.)

BAILEY & SLOTNICK, PLLC, AND CHARLES R. "CHUCK" BAILEY,

**Defendants Below, Respondents** 

### **Petitioner's Brief**

Petitioner, Jay M. Potter

Jay M. Potter (WV Bar # 2949) 600 Montei Drive Earlysville, Virginia, 22936 304-941-2046 Jmp241968@gmail.com

### **

### **Procedural Rules**

West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6)

### **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- 1. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE FRAUD CLAIM IN COUNT I OF THE COMPLAINT.
- 2. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE CONTRACT CLAIM IN COUNT II OF THE COMPLAINT.

- 3. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE CONTRACT CLAIM, AS TO THE INDIVIDUAL RESPONDENT, IN COUNT II OF THE COMPLAINT.
- 4. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE AGE
  DISCRIMINATION EQUAL OPPORTUNITY CLAIM IN COUNT III OF THE
  COMPLAINT.
- 5. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE AGE DISCRIMINATION EQUAL OPPORTUNITY CLAIM, AS TO THE INDIVIDUAL RESPONDENT, IN COUNT III OF THE COMPLAINT.
- 6. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE AGE DISCRIMINATION THREAT-OF-ECONOMIC-LOSS CLAIM IN COUNT IV OF THE COMPLAINT.
- 7. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE AGE DISCRIMINATION CONSTRUCTIVE DISCHARGE CLAIM IN COUNT V OF THE COMPLAINT.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal, by the Plaintiff below, requesting a de novo review of the granting of the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss all counts of a five-count Complaint in what is sometimes referred to as a truth-in-hiring case. See *Stewart v. Jackson & Nash, et al.*, 976 F.2d 86 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1992). That is basically the employment-law counterpart to a commercial-law bait-and-switch case. The plaintiff-employee claims that (1) he or she accepted employment based on promises by the employer; (2) when the employer made those promises, it intended not to keep them; (3) the employer subsequently did not keep them; and (4) the employee was damaged. The

gravamen of the claim is not the employer's failure to keep its promises (which failure might form the basis for a breach of contract action) but, rather, the employer's knowledge, when it made those promises, that it would not keep them. In this particular case, the reason that the Respondents did not intend to keep — and did not keep — their promises was the Petitioner's age. The Complaint's fraud count relates to the Respondents' lack of intention to keep the promises that they made to the Petitioner. The breach-of-contract count relates to the Respondents' subsequent failure to keep those promises. The three age-discrimination counts (equal opportunity, prohibition against threats, and constructive discharge) relate to the actions that the Respondents took in contravention of their promises and to the motivation underlying those actions.

### <u>Petitioner's First Period of Employment</u>

The Petitioner is an attorney who practiced insurance defense law, with a concentration on toxic torts. The Respondents are the firm Bailey & Slotnick (which practices insurance defense law as Bailey & Wyant) and its managing member Charles R. "Chuck" Bailey. In 2012, the Petitioner and Mr. Bailey began discussing the possibility of the Petitioner joining Bailey & Slotnick (which will be referred to as "B&W"). (A.R. 6). The Petitioner's objective was to maintain his productivity as an attorney by obtaining new case referrals to augment the cases on which he was currently working. This was a necessary objective for him to have because the insurance carriers that had been retaining him to defend toxic tort cases for approximately 20 years had ceased writing environmental liability policies and were therefore uncertain sources of future case referrals. (A.R. 3). Mr. Bailey assured the Petitioner that joining B&W would enhance his career in general and, specifically, would enable him to obtain new cases. Mr. Bailey made those

assurances with such apparent sincerity that the Petitioner agreed to join B&W – and bring all his current toxic-tort cases with him – for a temporary four-month salary equal to the salary that he was already receiving at his current firm and without any agreement with Mr. Bailey as to what his compensation would be at the end of those four months. (A.R. 4).

The representations that Mr. Bailey made in order to induce the Petitioner to join B&W were false, in that the Respondents had no intention of doing anything to increase the Petitioner's case load. What they needed was an attorney to assist Mr. Bailey with his own case load. (A.R. 4).

Typically, when a job applicant desires something different than what a potential employer intends to provide, the latter simply does not hire the former. The Respondents here took the opposite approach. They misrepresented what they intended to provide to the Petitioner and then hired him. Specifically, they did not intend to increase the Petitioner's case load and intended, instead, that the only role that he would ever have at B&W was Mr. Bailey's assistant. They felt justified in doing this because – as they stated in the Motion to Dismiss that is the subject of this appeal – they viewed the Petitioner, who was age 65 at the time, as having had a legal career that was "undistinguished" (A.R. 47), "unsuccessful" (A.R. 51), and "unhappy". (A.R. 51). Furthermore, they considered the Petitioner to be "at the brink of retirement", in "the late stage of his professional life", and "writing the final chapter of his professional life." (A.R. 48). Their apparent reasoning was that, because the Petitioner's dismal legal career was essentially over, what little that was left of it might as well be expended in helping Mr. Bailey to further his career. Given that the Motion to Dismiss also described the Petitioner as having been

"uniquely subservient", Mr. Bailey apparently viewed the Petitioner as a servant with a law degree. (A.R. 47).

During the Petitioner's employment at B&W, he was characterized sometimes as an associate and other times as of counsel to the firm. As will be apparent from the discussion that follows, the Petitioner was actually nothing more than a contract attorney who was hired to work on two specific projects; and the expiration of his contract was the earlier of (1) the cessation of Mr. Bailey's need for his assistance on those two projects or (2) his retirement.

There were two factors—one professional and one financial—that made Mr. Bailey's need for the Petitioner's assistance so great that he was motivated to mislead the Petitioner in order to obtain that assistance. **Professionally:** Shortly before the Petitioner joined B&W, Mr. Bailey was retained to defend the West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources in the case that evolved into *Taylor v. W.Va. Dep't of Health and Human Res.*, 788 S.E.2d 295 (W.Va. 2016). Mr. Bailey needed an experienced attorney to assist him with that case because his primary assistant had previously left the firm after an argument with Mr. Bailey (A.R. 4); and the Petitioner had recently defended the Department in an employment claim that had been handled by the same insurance claim representative who was handling Mr. Bailey's new case. **Financially:** Mr. Bailey's compensation arrangement at B&W included a provision under which the firm paid Mr. Bailey a portion of whatever income was generated by the work that attorneys other than Mr. Bailey performed on cases that were assigned to Mr. Bailey. (A.R. 9-10). Consequently it was financially advantageous for Mr. Bailey to have the Petitioner work as his assistant; and it would have been financially disadvantageous for Mr. Bailey to have kept his pre-hiring promise that

joining B&W would enable the Petitioner to obtain new cases of his own. This was because the Petitioner's work on his own cases would not have produced a financial subsidy for Mr. Bailey.

The magnitude of Mr. Bailey's desire to extract the maximum amount of personal financial benefit from the Petitioner during the "final chapter of his professional life" was revealed most clearly by the two situations discussed immediately below. The first was the firm's program to acquire more toxic tort cases; and the second was the Ormet case.

In 2014, B&W initiated a program that was intended to increase the number of toxic tort case referrals to attorneys in the firm. After this program was announced, the Petitioner requested to be included in it because he was the firm's most experienced toxic tort attorney. Having initially promised to include the Petitioner in the program, Mr. Bailey later excluded him from it; and the program was conducted by attorneys who were both younger and less experienced than the Petitioner. (A.R. 6). In other words, B&W initiated a program that was intended to produce new case referrals in the area of the law in which the Petitioner's background made him particularly likely to receive referrals; and Mr. Bailey excluded him from that program in order to reduce the risk that the Petitioner would have opportunities to work on cases other than Mr. Bailey's.

The Ormet case was the most significant of the toxic tort cases that the Petitioner brought with him to B&W. It consisted of three mass-joinder cases, with a total of over 600 plaintiffs, in the Circuit Court of Marshall County. The Plaintiffs' lead counsel was Bob Fitzsimmons; and the defendants consisted of multiple industrial facilities in the Upper Ohio Valley. The Petitioner represented Ormet Corporation, which operated what was once the fourth largest aluminum reduction plant in the United States. The Petitioner's work on that case was producing revenue

in excess of \$350,000 annually. (A.R. 62). Unbeknownst to the Petitioner, after he brought the Ormet case to B&W, Mr. Bailey transferred it on the firm's books from the Petitioner to himself so that, under his compensation arrangement, he would be entitled to a portion of whatever revenue was generated by the Petitioner's work. (A.R. 9). Consequently, while the Petitioner was working on what he thought was his own case, he was actually working on another of Mr. Bailey's cases.

In summary, the Petitioner was hired in 2012 for the purpose of working on two projects, the *Taylor* case and the Ormet case, in order to maximize Mr. Bailey's personal income. The best indication of that purpose is the fact, which is discussed on page 11 below, that the point in 2017 at which Mr. Bailey first criticized the Petitioner's productivity – and subsequently threatened to terminate his employment as a result — was only 20 days after B&W closed its file on the *Taylor* case and only 19 days after the Petitioner informed Mr. Bailey that the Ormet case was about the be closed. (A.R. 22, 23).

### <u>Petitioner's Second Period of Employment</u>

During 2014, it became apparent to the Petitioner that Mr. Bailey would not keep the promises that he had made in order to induce the Petitioner to join B&W two years earlier; and the Petitioner left B&W for another firm. (A.R. 6). Two months later, Mr. Bailey induced the Plaintiff to return to B&W by making a seemingly heartfelt plea that his prior treatment of the Petitioner had been a "mistake" that he had made only because he had not "listened" to the Petitioner's objections to his lack of new case assignments. (A.R. 8). He explained that B&W needed his support in the continuation of its toxic tort business development program (from which he had previously been excluded); and he promised that the Petitioner would be provided

with the same opportunities that Mr. Bailey had provided to two other attorneys who eventually became firm shareholders. However after the Petitioner returned to B&W on the basis of those assurances, Mr. Bailey placed him back into the exact same role that he had occupied the first time around. (A.R. 12). He was again assigned to assist Mr. Bailey with the Taylor case; he was again excluded from the toxic-tort business development program (A.R. 13, 14); he was again assigned no new cases of his own; and his only new assignments consisted of assisting Mr. Bailey. (A.R. 12). One difference between the Petitioner's two periods of employment was that, while Mr. Bailey was attempting to induce the Petitioner to return to B&W in 2014, he proposed — of his own volition, not in response to a request from the Petitioner – that if the Petitioner were to return, his salary would not depend on his financial productivity. (A.R. 8). In 2015, after the Petitioner had been back at B&W for approximately a year, he began warning the firm that, as the cases that he had brought to the firm were being resolved, the revenue that he was generating was decreasing and that, because his salary was not a function of his productivity, he would eventually become unproductive unless he was assigned new cases of his own - as opposed to assisting Mr. Bailey exclusively (A.R. 16,17). The firm ignored the Petitioner's warnings until a January 19, 2017 meeting between the Petitioner and Mr. Bailey. (A.R. 20, 21). The Taylor case had been set for an April trial; and Mr. Bailey asked the Petitioner for assurance that he would continue assisting with that case. The Petitioner (1) expressed frustration that contrary to Mr. Bailey's repeated representations that the Petitioner would be assigned new cases – he had continued to be utilized as nothing more than an assistant to Mr. Bailey; and (2) reiterated his warnings that the revenue that he was generating would continue to decrease until cases were assigned to him. Mr. Bailey – who had not mentioned the issue of the Petitioner's

productivity since his 2014 representation that the Petitioner's salary would be unrelated to it—assured the Petitioner that he was <u>not</u> concerned about the Petitioner's productivity. He added that there were "other shareholders" who did have such concerns but that they had indicated to Mr. Bailey that those concerns would cease if the Petitioner agreed to continue assisting Mr. Bailey with the *Taylor* case. (A.R. 20). On February 1, 2017, the Petitioner sent an e-mail to Mr. Bailey and two other shareholders agreeing to continue assisting Mr. Bailey with the *Taylor* case and requesting that, if anyone had concerns about the Petitioner's productivity, he should communicate those concerns to the Petitioner. (A.R. 20, 21). The Petitioner never received any responses to that e-mail.

Mr. Bailey's September 2014 representation that the Petitioner's salary would not depend on his productivity and his January 2017 representation that he was unconcerned about the Petitioner's productivity were both false. On July 13, 2017 (which was only 20 days after B&W closed its file on the *Taylor* case and only 19 days after the Petitioner informed Mr. Bailey that the Ormet case was about to be closed) Mr. Bailey sent the Petitioner an after-working-hours e-mail informing him that "the shareholders" actually had been concerned about the Petitioner's productivity since at least 2016 and that, as a result of this concern, they had decided that the Petitioner's salary would cease at the end of the following week (i.e. only eight days later). (A.R. 23). B&W was aware, when it made that decision, that the Petitioner was in his second month of screening for cancer attributable to exposure to the herbicide Agent Orange while serving in the U.S. Navy on the inland waterways of the Republic of Vietnam. (A.R. 21).

Mr. Bailey's e-mail explained that the new arrangement that was being offered to the Petitioner would be for a five-month period ending December 31, 2017, would be governed by a

written agreement that Mr. Bailey would provide to the Petitioner for his review and that would reflect the same employment arrangement that Mr. Bailey had negotiated with another attorney whose "work generation is very limited". (A.R. 23). That attorney was Trigg Salsbery. On July 14, 2017, the Petitioner sent Mr. Bailey an e-mail response reminding him of the 2014 agreement that his salary would not be related to his productivity, observing that Mr. Salsbery was the only other attorney at the firm who was close to the Petitioner in age, objecting to being placed in the same organizational role that Mr. Salsbery occupied, and asking what would happen if the Petitioner did not accept the terms of his e-mail. (A.R. 24. 25). Shortly thereafter, Mr. Bailey came to the Petitioner's office. He did not comment on the salary-agreement issue or on the age issue and simply informed the Petitioner that his employment would be terminated at the end of the month if he did not agree to the terms of the e-mail. (A.R. 25).

The Petitioner initially declined to accept the terms of Mr. Bailey's e-mail; however on July 19, 2017 he was diagnosed with the cancer for which he was being screened and accepted those terms in order to preserve his medical insurance during his cancer treatments. B&W never provided the Petitioner with the written employment agreement that Mr. Bailey had promised, which was significant because Mr. Bailey's e-mail had not addressed the issue of what business-development support the Petitioner could expect from the firm. (A.R. 25). The firm simply ended the Petitioner's salary at the end of the month and basically forgot about him. The petitioner underwent cancer surgery, obtained his own medical insurance because of the uncertainty of his employment situation, applied to the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs for service-connected disability, and subsequently was awarded a 100% disability rating effective January 25, 2018. (A.R. 26).

On January 31, 2018, the Petitioner met, at his request, with Mr. Bailey and two other shareholders in order to ascertain what his role at B&W was — and in the future would be — considering that the arrangement discussed in Mr. Bailey's July 13, 2017 e-mail had expired a month earlier. (A.R. 27). Mr. Bailey showed no interest in discussing the subject of the Petitioner's role at the firm — other than to criticize him for having not "stepped up to the plate" to provide Mr. Bailey with enough assistance with the *Taylor* case — and seemed intensely irritated that the Petitioner was presumptuous enough even to request a discussion of his role at the firm. (A.R. 28). The Petitioner remained at B&W until the end of 2018. During that period, work assignments that he had previously received, or would have expected to receive, were given to younger attorneys; and the only new work assignment that he received was assisting one of the other shareholders with one of his cases. (A.R. 28). After the Petitioner had worked on that assignment for nine months without receiving any payment or information about the employment arrangement under which he was working, the Respondents offered to pay him retroactively at the rate of \$35 per hour. (A.R. 29).

### Respondents' Motion to Dismiss

The Petitioner filed this action on July 11, 2019; and on Monday August 12, 2019, the Respondents filed the Motion to Dismiss (A.R. 47-59) that is the subject of this appeal. All of the Thirteenth Circuit (i.e. Kanawha County) judges disqualified themselves because of the relationship that each of them had with Mr. Bailey. This Court specially assigned the case to Judge Chiles of the Sixth Circuit (i.e. Cabell County), who — as discussed more fully below — dismissed each of the Complaint's five counts via the December 10, 2020 entry of Findings of

Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order Granting Defendants' Motion to Dismiss ("Dismissal Order") that had been proposed by the Respondents. (A.R. 180-191).

The Motion to Dismiss that the Respondents filed was unusual in four respects. First, it was not drafted by the Respondents' counsel Mike Farrell but, rather, by the defendant Mr. Bailey himself. Second, Mr. Bailey did not cite any judicial precedents in support of his arguments that the Complaint failed to state causes of action. Third, Mr. Bailey began his Motion with a "preface" that consisted of an elaborate factual scenario that he had constructed for the purpose of explaining why the Respondents' actions regarding the Petitioner had been completely justified and should never have been the subject of a lawsuit. (A.R. 47). One reason was that, when B&W hired the Petitioner, he was "at the brink of retirement", in "the late stage of his professional life", and "writing the final chapter of his professional life." (A.R. 48). That was an unorthodox position for Mr. Bailey to take, considering that three of the Complaint's five counts alleged age discrimination. Fourth - and most significantly - Mr. Bailey's explanatory scenario was an almost-total factual fabrication. It consisted of a mixture of psychological observations that Mr. Bailey made and descriptions of events that had never occurred and that Mr. Bailey knew had never occurred because he had been involved in the events that actually had occurred. This resulted in an inexplicable (at least in the Petitioner's view) situation in which (1) the Petitioner filed suit claiming that Mr. Bailey had made multiple false representations to him; and (2) Mr. Bailey's immediate reaction was to make multiple false representations to the court.

According to Mr. Bailey's "preface", this litigation did not result from any improper action by the Respondents. In his view, the Petitioner should have "properly thanked (Mr. Bailey and the firm) for their generosity and the opportunity to earn a living." (A.R. 51). The actual root cause

of this unfair litigation was the Petitioner's military service. The lawsuit was the result of the Petitioner's need to perform a "cathartic review" of his combat experiences in Viet Nam (A.R. 47); and the reason that the Petitioner had been dissatisfied with the role that Mr. Bailey had chosen for him at B&W was the education that he had received at the U.S. Naval Academy, which gave him an overinflated view of what his role at the firm should be. (A.R. 48). The Petitioner had the "fantasy" of "completing his legal career as a 'leader' when he had minimal experience as a legal leader." (A.R. 50).

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