IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VI

CASE NO. 21-0009

FILE COPY

Jay M. Potter, Plaintiff Below, Petitioner,

v.

Bailey & Slotnick, PLLC, and Charles R. "Chuck" Bailey, Defendants Below, Respondents. DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Michael J. Farrell, Esquire (W. Va. State Bar No. 1168) J. Ben Shepard, Esquire (W. Va. State Bar No. 13261) FARRELL, WHITE & LEGG PLLC P.O. Box 6457 Huntington, WV 25772-6457 Phone: (304) 522-9100 / Fax: (304) 522-9162 mjf@farrell3.com / jbs@farrell3.com

Counsel for Respondents

STATEMENT	OF THE CASE1
Fact	al Background
Proc	edural Background
SUMMARY O	F ARGUMENT
STATEMENT	REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT

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

Likewise, at no point in time were any "new cases . . . assigned to" Petitioner. (App. 12, ¶ 36; *see also* App. 15, ¶ 46.) Indeed, B&S "*gave no indication* that it intended to assign new cases to him" at all. (App. 12, ¶ 36 (emphasis added).) As time went on, Petitioner became "increasingly vocal" about B&S's failure "to assign to him, or otherwise provide opportunities for him to obtain, cases of his own." (App. 17, ¶ 52.) Mr. Bailey responded to Petitioner's complaints in December

2015 by proposing that Petitioner "agree to an arrangement in which [B&S] would 'finance' [his] attendance at educational seminars" instead of "expecting [B&S] to assign new cases to him." (App. 17, ¶ 53.) Petitioner raised the issue *again* with Mr. Bailey on March 3, 2016, "and for the first time since September 2014, Mr. Bailey agreed to begin assigning cases" to Petitioner. (App. 19, ¶ 58.) Yet, Mr. Bailey reneged on that promise the following day, instead reiterating his December 2015 proposal, which Petitioner again rejected. (App. 19, ¶ 59.) By January 19, 2017, even Petitioner subjectively recognized that B&S had no intention of "honor[ing] Mr. Bailey's September 2014 promise." (App. 20, ¶ 62.) In light of those allegations, it is hardly surprising that the Circuit Court found that Petitioner knew, or should have known, of the falsity of this representation before July 11, 2017.

That conclusion is no different relative to the second alleged misrepresentation, *i.e.*, that Petitioner would not "be relegated to his former role as Mr. Bailey's assistant" and "would not be required to work on any case on which he did not desire to work." (App. 8, ¶ 24.) The alleged falsity of that representation was—or, as a matter of law, should have been—immediately apparent to Petitioner. According to the Complaint, "*less than a month*" after Petitioner returned to B&S, Mr. Bailey asked him to resume assisting with cases. (App. 12, ¶ 34 (emphasis added).) Once Petitioner "resumed assisting Mr. Bailey" on October 14, 2014, "it became *increasingly apparent* that the only role that [B&S] envisioned for [him] was – as it previously had been – Mr. Bailey's assistant." (App. 12, ¶ 36 (emphasis added).) By the end of March 2015, "almost 75% of [Petitioner's] work consisted of assisting Mr. Bailey," while Petitioner's "work on his own cases was reduced by more than 50%." (App. 13, ¶ 39.)

Rather than improve over time, the situation only became worse. On April 14, 2015, Petitioner again "expressed to Mr. Bailey his increasing concerns about his role" at B&S,

informing Mr. Bailey that "he had been 'routinely deferring' work on his own cases in order to assist Mr. Bailey with his cases." (App. 14–15, ¶ 42.) But once again, Mr. Bailey rebuffed him. (App. 15, ¶ 43.) Five (5) months later, on September 4, 2015, Petitioner met with Messrs. Hammond and Fuller to complain about "being viewed as nothing more than Mr. Bailey's 'geriatric assistant.'" (App. 16–17, ¶ 49.) Messrs. Hammond's and Fuller's only response to Petitioner's "expressions of concern was to imply, during the meeting, that [Petitioner] should be more receptive to the role of assisting Mr. Bailey." (App. 17, ¶ 50.) Then, less than one (1) month after that meeting, Mr. Bailey "*further expanded*" Petitioner's role as his assistant by assigning Petitioner "to assist him with another matter." (App. 17, ¶ 51 (emphasis added).) That expansion continued unabated until Petitioner's resignation on December 28, 2018. Even viewing those allegations in the light most favorable to Petitioner, it is obvious that Petitioner knew, or should have known, of the falsity of this second representation long before July 11, 2017.

The same holds true with respect to the third and final alleged misrepresentation, *i.e.*, that Petitioner "would be paid his salary regardless of his level of financial productivity."⁶ (App. 8, ¶ 24.) In his Complaint, Petitioner plainly alleged that "Mr. Bailey brought up the issue of [his] financial productivity" and informed him that B&S's shareholders were concerned about the same on January 19, 2017. (App. 20, ¶ 61.) Consequently, Petitioner knew, or ought to have known, of the falsity of this third representation no later than that date.

While Rule 12(b)(6) entitles Petitioner to the benefit of all "inferences that *reasonably* may be drawn from the allegations" in his Complaint, the "inferences" that Petitioner invites this Court to draw are manifestly *unreasonable*. *Kopelman & Assocs., L.C. v. Collins*, 196 W. Va. 489, 493,

⁶ Reliance on a promise of that ilk is also unreasonable as a matter of law. *Cf., e.g., Brewer v. EnerSys, Inc.,* No. CV 3:04-1335-MJP, 2006 WL 8446422, at *5 (D.S.C. June 29, 2006) ("[R]eliance on a promise of future at-will employment is unreasonable as a matter of law." (citing *Sakelaris v. Rice/Maddox P'ship*, 883 F. Supp. 64, 66 (D.S.C. 1995))).

473 S.E.2d 910, 914 (1996) (emphasis added) (citing *State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 770, 776, 461 S.E.2d 516, 522 (1995)). As demonstrated by the discussion above, the express allegations of the Complaint made clear that Petitioner knew—or ought to have known—of the basis for his potential fraud claim no later January 19, 2017. Indeed, Petitioner persistently complained about issues connected with the aforementioned representations throughout his tenure with B&S; yet, his complaints were consistently rebuffed or ignored. (*See, e.g.*, App. 14–17, ¶ 42–43, 48–50.) Because the fraudulent inducement claim alleged in Count I was time barred, the Circuit Court did not err in dismissing the same as a matter of law. *See Coffield v. Robinson*, _____, W. Va. _____, 857 S.E.2d 395, 401 (2021) ("[W]here causes of action are barred by the applicable statute of limitations, the complaint fails to set forth a claim upon which relief can be granted."); *see also Richards v. Walker*, 244 W. Va. 1, 813 S.E.2d 923 (2018) (affirming dismissal of complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) where the alleged claims for malicious prosecution, outrageous conduct, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and defamation were barred by applicable statutes of limitation).

II. <u>The Circuit Court Did Not Err in Dismissing the Breach of Contract Claim</u> <u>Asserted Against Respondent Bailey & Slotnick, P.L.L.C. in Count II of the</u> <u>Complaint.</u>

In Count II of the Complaint, Petitioner alleged that Respondents breached two (2) oral contracts of employment. (App. 34–37, ¶¶ 102–13.) The first oral contract arose in September 2014 out of an alleged conversation between Petitioner and Mr. Bailey. (App. 10, ¶ 29; *see also* App. 34–35, ¶ 102 (cross-referencing paragraph 29).) Under the terms of the first alleged agreement, Petitioner promised to return "to [B&S] with his cases." (App. 10, ¶ 29.) In exchange, B&S allegedly promised: (1) to provide the professional development "opportunities that [Petitioner] expected to receive during his prior employment" with B&S and to "have cases assigned to [Petitioner] in order to replace the cases he would bring with him" to B&S as those

cases were resolved; (2) not to require Petitioner "to work on any case on which he did not desire to work"; and (3) to pay Petitioner his salary "regardless of his level of financial productivity." (App. 8, ¶ 23–24; *see also* App. 34–35, ¶ 102 (cross-referencing paragraphs 23 and 24)).

The second alleged contract, which the Complaint described as "parallel" to the first, arose on February 1, 2017. (App. 34–35, ¶ 102.) Under the terms of this alleged oral contract, Petitioner "agreed to resume assisting Mr. Bailey with his case." (App. 20–21, ¶ 63; *see also* App. 34–35, ¶ 102 (cross-referencing paragraph 63).) In exchange, B&S allegedly "reaffirmed" its prior promise to pay Petitioner his salary "regardless of his level of financial productivity." (App. 8, ¶ 24; *see also* App. 34–35, ¶ 102 (cross-referencing paragraph 24).) Petitioner claimed that B&S breached both agreements on July 14, 2017, when Mr. Bailey supposedly informed Petitioner that if he would not agree to employment on different terms, then "his employment would be terminated." (App. 32, ¶ 96; *see also* App. 36, ¶ 108 (identifying "the eleventh aforementioned step" alleged in paragraph 96 as constituting the alleged breach).)

The Circuit Court dismissed the breach of contract claim alleged against B&S for two (2) independent reasons. The Circuit Court first determined that Petitioner's claim was foreclosed, as a matter of law, because B&S's offer to modify the terms of Petitioner's alleged oral contract(s) of employment did not constitute a breach. (App. 187, \P 29.) In the alternative, the Circuit Court concluded that the express allegations of the Complaint established, as a matter of law, that Petitioner had waived the alleged breach. (App. 187–88, $\P\P$ 30–31.) Each conclusion was correct, Petitioner's objections notwithstanding.

A. The Factual Allegations in the Complaint Failed to Plead a Cognizable Breach of Either Alleged Oral Contract of Employment.

The Circuit Court did not err in dismissing Petitioner's breach of contract claim in light of Petitioner's failure to allege a cognizable breach of either alleged oral contract of employment. To

state a breach of contract claim, the law of West Virginia required Petitioner to "allege facts sufficient to support the following elements: [1] the existence of a valid, enforceable contract; [2] that the plaintiff has performed under the contract; [3] that the defendant has breached or violated its duties or obligations under the contract; [4] and that the plaintiff has been injured as a result." Exec. Risk Indem., Inc. v. Charleston Area Med. Ctr., Inc., 681 F. Supp. 2d 694, 714 (S.D. W. Va. 2009) (citing 23 RICHARD A. LORD, WILLISTON ON CONTRACTS § 63:1 (4th ed. 2009)). In this case, the Circuit Court correctly determined that B&S's offer to modify the terms of Petitioner's alleged oral contract(s) of employment did not constitute a breach. (App. 187, ¶29.) The Circuit Court first looked to the Complaint, yet found no allegation that either alleged oral contract "contained an 'ascertainable and definitive' term of duration." (App. 187, ¶ 29 (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, in part, Sayres v. Bauman, 188 W. Va. 550, 425 S.E.2d 226 (1992)).) The Circuit Court then relied upon the long-standing principle that "[w]hen a contract of employment is of indefinite duration it may be terminated at any time by either party to the contract." (App. 187, ¶29 (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, Suter v. Harsco Corp., 184 W. Va. 734, 403 S.E.2d 751 (1991)).) Reasoning that B&S had the legal right to terminate its employment relationship with Petitioner whenever and for whatever reason it deemed appropriate, the Circuit Court concluded that Count II failed to allege an actionable breach of either oral contract as a matter of law. (App. 187, ¶ 29.)

Unsurprisingly, Petitioner takes issue with that conclusion. (See Pet'r's Br. 27–28.) Yet, Petitioner's assignment of error is not only conclusory, but also tilts at windmills. For example, Petitioner asserts that the Circuit Court's decision "is not supported by any legal authority," which is demonstrably false, (see App. 187, ¶ 29), and is also ironic considering that Petitioner himself did not cite a single shred of authority in support of his assignment of error, (see Pet'r's Br. 27– 28). Indeed, Petitioner devoted less than two (2) pages of text toward explaining *how* the Circuit Court erred in the first place. (See Pet'r's Br. 27–28.) What is more, the entirety of Petitioner's abbreviated criticism is built upon a contrived fiction. Contrary to Petitioner's flawed interpretation, the decision below did *not* hold that "no agreement <u>of any type</u> between an employer and an employee can be legally valid unless there is already an agreement regarding the duration of the employee's employment." (*Id.* (emphasis in original).) Rather, the Circuit Court came to the unremarkable conclusion that the actual or threatened termination of an at-will employee does not result in a cognizable breach of contract. (App. 187, ¶ 29.)

That conclusion was not only sensible, but also enjoys substantial support from this Court's own jurisprudence. In this case, there is no dispute that Petitioner's Complaint, despite its substantial length, failed to include any factual allegations sufficient to allege an "ascertainable and definitive" term of duration with respect to either supposed oral contract of employment. "When a contract of employment is of indefinite duration," as was the case here, "it may be terminated at any time by either party to the contract." Syl. Pt. 1, Suter, 184 W. Va. 734, 403 S.E.2d 751 (quoting Syl. Pt. 2, Wright v. Standard Ultramarine & Color Co., 141 W. Va. 368, 90 S.E.2d 459 (1955)). That is so because "[e]mployees relying upon a contract in 'which the expected duration of employment was never specified are considered "at will" employees."" Hatfield v. Health Mgmt. Assocs. of W. Va., 223 W. Va. 259, 265, 672 S.E.2d 395, 401 (2008) (per curiam) (quoting Sayres, 188 W. Va. at 552, 425 S.E.2d at 228). Indeed, it has long been established that such employment "is terminable at any time at the pleasure of either the employer or the employee." Williamson v. Sharvest Mgmt. Co., 187 W. Va. 30, 32-33, 415 S.E.2d 271, 273-74 (1992) (citing Cook v. Heck's Inc., 176 W. Va. 368, 342 S.E.2d 453 (1986); Wright, 141 W. Va. 368, 90 S.E.2d 459).

The foregoing propositions doom Petitioner's breach of contract claim against B&S because the same conclusively demonstrate that B&S did not "breach" the oral contract(s) in the manner alleged. "A breach of contract is a non-performance of any contractual duty of immediate performance." RESTATEMENT (FIRST) OF CONTRACTS § 312 (AM. LAW INST. 1932); accord RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONTRACTS § 235 cmt. b (AM. LAW. INST. 1981). Here, Petitioner alleged that B&S breached the oral contract(s) of employment when Mr. Bailey supposedly informed Petitioner that if he would not agree to employment on different terms, then "his employment would be terminated." (App. 32, ¶ 96; see also App. 36, ¶ 108 (identifying "the eleventh aforementioned step" alleged in paragraph 96 as constituting the alleged breach).) What Petitioner fails to appreciate is that, as a result of his employee-at-will status, B&S had no contractual duty to keep Petitioner within its employ in perpetuity. In other words, B&S enjoyed the right to terminate its relationship with Petitioner whenever, and for whatever reason, it deemed appropriate, and vice versa.⁷ As such, B&S's alleged "threat" to terminate Petitioner's employment—which is the only conduct alleged in the Complaint as evidencing B&S's breach could not possibly amount to a breach of either alleged oral contract. Because the Complaint failed to allege a cognizable breach, which is a required element to state an actionable breach of contract claim, the Circuit Court correctly dismissed Count II as to B&S as a matter of law.

B. Even Assuming Arguendo That B&S Breached the Oral Contract(s), the Allegations Clearly Appearing on the Face of the Complaint Indicated That Petitioner Waived the Breach As a Matter of Law.

In the alternative, the Circuit Court concluded that the factual allegations appearing on the

⁷ Indeed, Petitioner was notoriously fickle when it came to exercising his right to terminate his employment relationship with B&S. For example, Petitioner left B&S to join a competing law firm on July 14, 2014, (App. 6, ¶ 18), only to return to B&S around one (1) month later, (App. 10, ¶ 30). Petitioner again resigned from B&S around July 15, 2017, only to return days later "in order to avoid losing [B&S] medical insurance coverage" in light of his intervening cancer diagnosis. (App. 25, ¶ 77.)

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